CHARLESTON

CARESSA DELANEY,

Plaintiff,

v.

Civil Action No. 18-C-75

DAN'S CAR WORLD, LLC, a West Virginia Limited Liability Company dba DAN CAVA'S TOYOTA WORLD,

Defendant.

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA HONORABLE SUSAN B. TUCKER, JUDGE

TO: THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

GREGORY H. SCHILLACE WVSB #5597

Counsel for Appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World

SCHILLACE LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 1526 Clarksburg, West Virginia 26302-1526 Telephone: 304-624-1000 Facsimile: 304-624-9100

I. Statement of the Kind of Proceeding and Nature of the Ruling Below

This appeal follows the December 5, 2019 trial of the underlying civil action in which the appellee, Caressa Delaney, claimed that a used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox she purchased on February 24, 2017 was defective. Appendix at 00019. At trial, the circuit court, abusing its discretion precluded the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, from presenting

any defenses, however, the appellee still failed to obtain a better result than pretrial settlement proposals.¹ Appendix at 01050.

The civil action was filed on February 20, 2018 claiming that the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox with 76,014 miles purchased by the appellee, Caressa Delaney, from the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, was defective. Appendix at 00001. The appellant filed an answer on March 20, 2018. Appendix at 00010.

On August 20, 2018 the appellant responded to the first set of interrogatories served by the appellee. On September 21, 2018 an order was entered requiring the appellant to supplement the previously filed responses. Appendix at 00019.

The appellant supplemented the responses to the to discovery requests served by the appellee on January 22, 2019. Appendix at 00061. A scheduling order was entered on June 25, 2019 setting the trial for December 3, 2019. Appendix at 00079.

On February 12, 2019 the trial court entered an order granting a second motion to compel discovery and award as sanctions an attorney fee of \$1,200.00 against the appellant. Appendix at 00082. There was no factual basis established for the award of the

¹ The appellee refused a settlement offer of \$2,500.00 from Huntington National Bank, dismissing the bank with prejudice with no consideration. The verdict of \$12,662.09 must be reduced by the \$9,500.00 value of the vehicle which the appellee is required to return to the appellant. Accordingly, the net verdict of \$9,162.09 is less than the pretrial offer of the appellant and Huntington National Bank.

\$1,200.00 attorney fee sanction against the appellant. Appendix at 00188.

Without intervention of the trial court the depositions of the appellee, Caressa Delaney; as well as, John Tiano, salesperson of the appellant; Tiffany Moines, employee of the appellant; and, Daniel A. Cava, managing member of the appellant, were completed. Appendix at 00088, 00091, 00094. The appellant also responded to requests for admissions and interrogatories served on August 16, 2019. Appendix at 00123.

Upon receipt of a demand that the responses to the request for admissions be supplemented, the appellant supplemented its responses on October 25, 2019, which was the discovery completion Appendix at 00132. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, filed a date. motion for further and additional sanctions and to compel complete responses to discovery with respect to the appellant on October 25, 2019 which was the discovery completion date and two (2) months after the discovery supplementation. The hearing notice was not sent to counsel for the appellant until October 30, 2019. Appendix at 00172. The motion of the appellee, Caressa Delaney, which claimed difficulty regarding the scheduling of depositions that had already taken place was set for hearing on November 7, 2019, affording the appellant only six (6) days notice which was not reasonable notice pursuant to Rule 6 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Appendix at 00172.

At the November 7, 2019 hearing, the trial court took the discovery motion under advisement but required the parties to return to mediation on or before Friday, November 15, 2019 and report to the court the results of the mediation by 9:00 a.m. on November 18, 2019. There was no argument or discussion with respect to the discovery motion at the November 7, 2019 hearing. Appendix at 00970.

On November 21, 2019, the appellee, Caressa Delaney, in person and by her counsel, John N. Ellem and Jane E. Peak, as well as the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, by its managing member, Daniel Cava, and by counsel, Gregory H. Schillace, appeared for the final pretrial conference. Appendix at 00662. A stipulation of dismissal was entered with respect to Huntington Bankshares, on November 19. 2019, therefore, the appellee and the appellant were the only parties remaining in the action. Appendix at 00620.

The dismissal of Huntington Bank was submitted by the appellee, Caressa Delaney, foregoing an offered payment of \$2,500.00 from Huntington Bank in exchange for a release of claims. Counsel for Huntington Bank had a conflict with the December 3, 2019 trial date and the appellee did not want the trial continued, therefore, Huntington Bank was dismissed with prejudice without making any settlement payment. Appendix at 00931.

During the final pretrial conference the trial court inquired as to the status of the mediation and was informed that the appellee increased her first mediation demand of \$55,000.00 to \$75,000.00 to which the appellant had offered to repurchase the subject vehicle for \$12,000.00 which when coupled with the \$2,500.00 offered by Huntington Bank was only \$963.84 less than the appellee, Caressa Delaney, paid for the vehicle and the extended service contract. The trial court commented that the increase in the demand was "understandable". Appendix at 00663.

Throughout the November 21, 2019 hearing the trial court commented negatively with respect to the appellant. These comments included:

- (a) The appellee increase in settlement demand from \$55,000.00 to \$75,000.00 was understandable. Appendix at 00663;
- (b) "Don't apologize to me, apologize to the people who it matters to." Appendix at 00664;
 - (c) "You can believe whatever you want." Appendix at 00664;
 - (d) "Oh, I'm not surprised." Appendix at 00665; and,
 - (e) "Jane, I am guessing that is woefully insufficient and unacceptable." Appendix at 00667.

During the November 21, 2019 final pretrial conference the trial court was advised by counsel for the appellee, Caressa Delaney, that the demand had been reduced to \$65,000.00. Appendix at 00663. The trial court then solicited a response from counsel for the appellant who responded by the offer to pay the \$2,500.00

offered by Huntington Bank prior to its dismissal in addition to the prior offer of the appellant. Appendix at 00664.

At the direction of the trial court, the appellee, Caressa Delany, then reduced the demand to \$55,000.00. Appendix at 00666. The appellant stated that to resolve the litigation the appellant would repurchase the subject vehicle for all amounts paid including the now expired service contract which totaled \$15,363.84. Appendix at 00666.

The offer was rejected and the trial court proceeded without argument to deny the motion for summary judgment of the appellant stating that there were questions of fact; grant the motion for additional sanctions of the appellee; striking the all of the defenses of the appellant; and, ordering that the trial proceed on damages only. Appendix at 00667.

The case proceeded to trial on December 5, 2019. After the one(1) day trial, the jury, being instructed that they were required to award damages as the trial court had ruled as a matter of law regarding liability rendered the following verdict:

Verdict Form

Please answer each item, as appropriate:

Part I - Revocation of Acceptance

1. For the Plaintiff, Caressa Delaney's revocation of acceptance of her 2012 Chevrolet Equinox in addition to the purchase price of \$12,662.09, what amount, if any, do you award Plaintiff Caressa

Delaney for incidental and consequential damages?

Purchase Price	\$_12,662.09
Finance Charges	\$
Annoyance, Nuisance and Inconvenienc	e \$

Part II - Breach of Warranty/Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act

2. As a result of Dan's Car World, LLC breach of express warranty and breach of implied warranty of merchantability and Magnuson-Moss Act with respect to Caressa Delaney's 2012 Chevrolet Equinox do you find that the violations by the Defendant were serious enough to require the Defendant to buy back the vehicle?

<u>X</u> Yes <u>No</u>

If you answered "Yes" to Question No. 2, then the Plaintif is entitled to a refund of the purchase price of \$12,662.09, what additional amount, do you award Plaintiff Caressa Delaney for the following compensatory damages?

Refund of the Purchase Price \$<u>12,662.09</u>

Annoyance, Nuisance and Inconvenience \$______ If you answered "No" to Question No. 2, then you have determined that the violations were NOT serious enough to require the Dan's Car World, LLC to buy back the vehicle. But you may still award Caressa Delaney damages for this violation of law. What amount do you award Plaintiff Caressa Delaney for the following compensatory damages:

Diminished Value of the Chevrolet Equinox \$_____ Annoyance, Nuisance and Inconvenience \$_____

Part III - West Virginia Consumer Protection Act

3. Dan's Car World, LLC has committed the following unfair or deceptive acts or practices:

A. Dan's Car World, LLC represented to Caressa Delaney that the Chevrolet Equinox was of a particular quality when it was not.

B. Dan's Car World, LLC, engaged in conduct which created a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding with respect to any of the warranties provided with the Chevrolet Equinox.

C. Dan's Car World, LLC engaged in conduct which created a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding with respect to any of the warranties provided with the Chevrolet Equinox.

D. Dan's Car World, LLC, engaged in an unfair or deceptive act or practice by concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact with respect to the Chevrolet Equinox at any time before, during or after the sale to the Plaintiff?

For these violations, please indicate whether plaintiff is entitled to \$200 in damages or more than \$200 in damages by placing the amount of damages you find for Dan's Car World's unfair and deceptive practices. Remember that your verdict on this Count must be at least \$200.

\$<u>2000.-</u>

Part IV - Misrepresentation

4. Defendant Dan's Car World, LLC, misrepresented the condition of the Chevrolet Equinox it sold to Caressa Delaney.

5. Dan's Car World, LLC misrepresented that it had properly inspected the Chevrolet Equinox prior to its sale to Caressa Delaney.

What amount, if any, do you award Plaintiff Caressa Delaney, for her compensatory damages for Dan's Car World, LLC fraud and/or misrepresentations?

\$_2000.-

Part V ~ Punitive Damages

6. Do you find that Plaintiff Caressa Delaney has established by clear and convincing evidence that the damages suffered were the result of the conduct that was carried out by Dan's car World, LLC with actual malice toward Caressa Delaney or a conscious, reckless and outrageous indifference to the health, safety and welfare of others?

<u>X</u> Yes ____ No

If you answer to Question No. 6 was "Yes," then what additional damages, if any, do you award for punitive damages? If you answer to Question 6 was "No," then please continue to the Certification.

\$ 2000.-

Certification

The above answers are the jury's unanimous verdict.

Thereafter, the appellant timely filed its motion for judgment as a matter of law or in the alternative motion for new trial. Appendix at 01198. The appellee filed a petition for the award of attorney fees and costs. Appendix at 01067.

II. Assignments of Error and Summary of Argument

A. The Appellant Was Entitled to Summary Judgment.

(1) There is no cause of action pursuant to West Virginia Code \$46A-6-106 absent out-of-pocket loss of which appellee has none.

(2) The appellee kept the vehicle, therefore, there was no revocation of acceptance.

(3) The 2012 Chevrolet Equinox was fully repaired at no cost to the appellee including, being provided with a substitute vehicle.

B. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Striking the Answer and Defenses of the Appellant.

(1) There is an insufficient record of any discovery abuse to justify the penalty imposed.

(2) The trial court did not analyze the factors established by this Court to be considered when awarding sanctions.

(3) The trial court erred in directing a verdict regarding punitive damages as such relief exceeds the statutory authority of West Virginia Code \$55-7-29.

C. The Appellee Was Not Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees and Costs.

(1) The appellee did not prevail in this action.

(2) The conduct of th appellant did not involve debt collection and was not illegal, fraudulent or unconscionable, therefore, West Virginia Code \$46A-5-104 does not apply.

(3) The attorney fees and costs awarded are not reasonable in light of the issues presented in a one (1) day trial where the appellee recovered less than the pretrial settlement offers.

- D. Misrepresentation Is Not an Element of Damage and the Appellee Proved No Damages Proximately Caused by Any Misrepresentation.
- E. Punitive Damages Are Not Recoverable for Breach of Contract or Pursuant to West Virginia Code §46A-1-101 et seq.
- F. Prejudgment Interest Is Not Reasonable on General or Punitive Damages.

III. Statement of Facts

1. On February 24, 2017, the appellee, Caressa Delaney, purchased a used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox from the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World. Appendix at 00385.

2. At the time of the purchase the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox had one prior owner and had been driven 76,014 miles. Appendix at 00386.

3. The 2012 Chevrolet Equinox had previously been owned by William D. Pringle and Cheryl J. Pringle, who were residents of Harrison County at the time of the February 24, 2017 purchase. Appendix at 00386.

4. Mr. and Mrs. Pringle purchased another vehicle from the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, trading in their 2012 Chevrolet Equinox which they purchased new from Harry Green Chevrolet in Clarksburg, West Virginia on or about November 21, 2011. Appendix at 00386.

5. Prior to offering the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox for sale, the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, performed the following inspection and/or service on the vehicle:

- (a) Used vehicle inspection;
- (b) Replaced Wiper Blades;
- (c) Mounted and balanced four (4) new tires;
- (d) Front wheel alignment;
- (e) Oil and oil filter change;
- (f) Turned rear brake rotors and pads;
- (g) Replaced rear brake pads;
- (h) Replaced engine air filter;
- (i) Replaced the cabin air filter;
- (j) Preformed throttle body cleaning service;
- (k) Replaced battery.

A part of the complaint of the appellee regarding discovery responses by the appellant involved the production of documents regarding this service. Appendix at 00386-00387.

6. The purchase price of the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox purchased by the appellee was \$11,990.00 plus the \$4,000.00 attributed to the vehicle traded by the appellee. Appendix at 00387.

7. As provided by the Motor Vehicle Purchase Agreement, the appellee, Caressa Delaney, was given a credit against the purchase price in the amount of \$4,000.00 for the sale (trade in) of her 2007 Toyota Corolla to the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World. Appendix at 00406.

8. The 2007 Toyota Corolla sold by the appellee, Caressa Delaney, to the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, for \$4,000.00 had been driven 112,690 miles. Appendix at 00406.

9. As the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox was used the appellee, Caressa Delaney, purchased a Toyota Extra Care Vehicle Service Agreement from the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World. Appendix at 00388.

10. The cost of the Toyota Extra Care Vehicle Service Agreement was \$2,525.00. Appendix at 00388.

11. The Toyota Extra Care Vehicle Service Agreement provided coverage from February 24, 2017 for 3 years or 36,000 miles. Appendix at 00431.

12. There were no additional express warranties with the vehicle as the appellee, Caressa Delaney, purchased the service agreement. Appendix at 00406.

13. At the time of the purchase of the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox the appellee, Caressa Delaney, executed an Odometer Disclosure Statement indicating that she was aware that the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox had been driven 76,014 miles. Appendix at 00389.

14. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, was provided with a CarFax Vehicle History Report by a sales representative employed by the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World. Appendix at 00389.

15. Following the February 24, 2017 purchase of the subject vehicle the appellee, Caressa Delaney, alleged that she noticed that the vehicle was "shifting really hard". Appendix at 00389.

16. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, further alleges that the day after she noticed the vehicle was "shifting really hard", the check engine light illuminated. Appendix at 00390.

17. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, took the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox to Premier Chevrolet located in Morgantown, West Virginia on March 6, 2017 regarding the issues alleged in the two (2)

proceeding paragraphs. Appendix at 00390.

18. On March 6, 2017 Premier Chevrolet performed the following services:

(a) Replaced the catalatic converter;

- (b) Replaced the HVAC actuator;
- (c) Repaired a transmission fluid leak by replacing the transmission manual shaft seal;
- (d) Repaired the complaint of noise in rear of the vehicle when turning by replacing the rear sway bar bushings.

Appendix at 00390.

19. At the time the appellee, Caressa Delaney, took the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox to Premier Chevrolet for the March 6, 2017 service, she had driven the vehicle approximately ten (10) days and had added an additional 306 miles to the total vehicle mileage. Appendix at 00390.

20. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, was not charged by Premier Chevrolet for any of the service and/or repairs performed on March 6, 2017 as she was advised that all of the issues were covered by warranty. Appendix at 00390.

21. On March 20, 2017 the appellee, Caressa Delaney, brought the used 2012 Chevrolet Equinox to the service department operated by the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, complaining of the following:

- (a) Transmission shifting hard;
- (b) Driver side window would not roll up; and,
- (c) Vehicle misses when first started.

Appendix at 00391.

22. When delivered to the service department of the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, by the appellee, Caressa Delaney, the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox on March 20, 2017 had 76,603 miles. Appendix at 00391.

23. The appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, sent the vehicle to Harry Green Chevrolet located in Clarksburg, West Virginia as the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, is not a Chevrolet dealer. Appendix at 00391.

24. While at Harry Green Chevrolet, the following services were performed on the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox:

- (a) Replaced spark plugs;
- (b) Installed General Motors Fuel Treatment System Cleaner; and,
- (c) Evaluated the complaint regarding the vehicle not shifting correctly and indicated that the technician test drove the vehicle and found it be operating as designed with no computer failure codes present or in the computer history of the vehicle.

Appendix at 00457.

25. The 2012 Chevrolet Equinox was then returned to the service department of the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan

Cava's Toyota World, on or about April 6, 2017 where the driver's side window was lubricated correcting the complaint. Appendix at 00460.

26. In the 25 days that the appellee, Caressa Delaney, owned the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox from February 24, 2017 to March 20, 2017 the vehicle had been driven 589 miles. Appendix at 00391.

27. During the time period the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox was at Harry Green Chevrolet and at the service department of the appellant, Dan's Car World, LLC d/b/a Dan Cava's Toyota World, for evaluation and service, the appellee, Caressa Delaney, was provided with a vehicle by the appellant at no cost. Appendix at 00453.

28. On June 16, 2017 the appellee, Caressa Delaney, took the vehicle to Premier Chevrolet complaining that the vehicle was "shifting abnormally"; "shuts off"; "gurgles when accelerating"; and, that the check engine light was illuminated. Appendix at 00393.

29. At the time of the evaluation by service technicians at Premier Chevrolet the check engine light was not on and the vehicle was two (2) quarts low on oil. Appendix at 0393.

30. During the June 16, 2017 inspection the General Motors trained service technician(s) at Premier Chevrolet found two (2) General Motors service codes, Code p0014 and Code p0013. Appendix at 00462.

31. On June 16, 2017 Premier Chevrolet noted that the 2012 Chevrolet Equinox now had 79,284 miles, therefore the vehicle had been driven 3,270 miles since the February 24, 2017 purchase. Appendix at 00462.

32. The appellee, Caressa Delaney, returned the vehicle to Premier Chevrolet on June 21, 2017 stating that the check engine light was still on and that she still heard a noise when accelerating. Appendix at 00464.

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