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

A.1287, Order Granting Plaintiff's Petition for Attorney Fees and Costs ("Fee Order"), ¶5, ¶3 (quoting *Rice v. Mike Ferrell Ford*, 184 W.Va. 757, 762 n.7, 403 S.E.2d 774, 779 n.7 (1991) (case brought under Magnuson-Moss and the Odometer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1989(a) (1988)) (quoting *Duval v. Midwest Auto City, Inc.*, 578 F.2d 721, 726 (8th Cir. 1978); *Fleet Investment Company, Inc.*, v. Rogers, 620 F.2d 792, 793 (10th Cir. 1980))).

In another consumer protection context, this Court further stated, "such [attorney fee shifting] provisions provide 'the economic incentive . . . to attract competent counsel for the purpose of enforcing . . . laws that serve to protect the interests of this state's citizenry." *Quicken Loans, Inc. v. Walters*, 239 W.Va. 494, 503, 801 S.E.2d 509, 518 (2017) (regulation of mortgage loans) (quoting *Heldreth v. Rahimian*, 219 W.Va. 462, 467, 637 S.E.2d 359, 364 (2006) (regarding the fee shifting provision in the West Virginia Human Rights Act, W.Va. Code § 5-11-13(c))).

Under these laws and principles, the trial court's awarded of reasonable attorney fees and costs should be upheld.

In addition to the authority provided in Magnuson-Moss, *City National*, and the WVCCPA, this Court has held that an award of attorney fees and costs may be appropriate "when the losing party has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons." *Muzelak, supra* (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Sally-Mike Properties v. Yokum*, 179 W.Va. 48, 365 S.E.2d 246 (1986)). Based on the facts and history of this case, attorney fees and costs were available to Ms. Delaney even without the statutory provisions.

This Court has laid out the steps a trial court should take in determining the reasonableness of an attorney fee request. First is the calculation of the amount requested.

[T]he most useful starting point for determining the amount of a reasonable fee is the number of hours reasonably expended on the litigation multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate. This calculation provides an objective basis on which to make an initial estimate of the value of a lawyer's services.

184 W.Va. at 760, 403 S.E.2d at 777 (quoting *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 433 (1983)). Then, the trial court should balance the twelve factors from Syl. Pt. 4, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Pitrolo*, 176 W. Va. 190, 342 S.E.2d 156 (1986), to determine the reasonableness of the requested fee. *Rice v. Mike Ferrell Ford*, 184 W.Va. at 762, 403 S.E.2d at 779. Those factors are: "(1) the time and labor required; (2) the novelty and difficulty of the questions; (3) the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; (4) the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to acceptance of the case; (5) the customary fee; (6) whether the fee is fixed or contingent; (7) time limitations imposed by the client or the circumstances; (8) the amount involved and the results obtained; (9) the experience, reputation, and ability of the attorneys; (10) the undesirability of the case; (11) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; and (12) awards in similar cases."

In the Corrected Petition for Attorney Fees and Costs ("Corrected Fee Petition"), Ms. Delaney's counsel provided support for the hourly rate sought, which Car World has not challenged, provided detailed time records explaining the hours each counsel spent on the case, and also presented a discussion of each of the 12 Aetna factors. A. 1138-1144 (Corrected Fee Petition, pp. 6-12). Car World filed a response that included many of the same arguments made to this Court, i.e., that the number of hours was not reasonable; that an attorney fee award was not available on all of Ms. Delaney's claims and, therefore, the number of hours should be reduced; and that Ms. Delaney did not achieve a better result than the prelitigation offer Car World asserts it made. A. 1214-1219. Yet, neither with its Response nor at the March 11, 2020 hearing on the Fee Petition, did Car World provided any evidence to support its assertions regarding the reasonableness of the hours claimed. It did not point to specific hours that it felt were unreasonable or to tasks that were not necessary for all of the claims Ms. Delaney asserted. Further, after reviewing the Corrected Fee Petition, including attachments, the Response and the Reply, and considering the arguments of counsel at the hearing, the trial court found that Ms. Delaney's counsel had "exercised billing judgment to ensure that the time records reflect reasonable amounts of time for each counsel and eliminates the duplication of hours where the active service of two attorneys were not absolutely necessary." A. 1284 (Fee Order, ¶ 2, ¶6).

Appellant asserts no valid and supported argument against the attorney fee award

Car World provides no support for it assertion, at pp. 34-35, that the number of hours claimed by Ms. Delaney's counsel is excessive when compared to the amount of time Car World's counsel spent on the case. Car World made the same assertion before the trial court but, neither there nor before this Court, has Car World provided any evidence to support its bald statement. Therefore, Car World has waived its right to challenge the reasonableness of the hours detailed by

Ms. Delaney's counsel. See, e.g., Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 892 n.5 (1984) (declining to consider petitioner's arguments regarding the reasonableness of the respondent's counsel's hours because the petitioner did not submit evidence challenging the accuracy or reasonable of the hours before the district court and, therefore, waived the right to challenge the hours); Cobell v. Norton, 407 F.Supp. 2d 140, 161 (D.D.C. 2005) (where, relying on the Blum court's guidance, the federal district court concluded that defendants were required to submit information sufficient "to put plaintiffs on notice of those entries it deems excessive and to trigger the court's examination into the merit of those allegations" and that defendant in that case had met this requirement).

Further, as discussed above, the trial court noted in its Fee Order that Ms. Delaney's counsel was required to perform additional work as a result of Car World's failure to engage in discovery and to obey the trial court's orders, as well as counsel's time spent responding to Car World's Writ filed days before trial. A. 1284 (Fee Order, ¶ 2, ¶ 4).

Moreover, Car World's assertion that Ms. Delaney did not achieve a better result than the prelitigation offer Car World asserts it made is incorrect. Despite Car World's assertion, at p. 39, that it "agreed to return [to Ms. Delaney] all of the money she had paid in exchange for a return of the vehicle," the sworn testimony of its agents shows otherwise. Although neither testified at trial, both Car World's owner and managing member Dan Cava and its employee, John Tiano, the salesperson who sold Ms. Delaney the vehicle, were deposed in this case. Their testimony was brought to the trial court's attention in Ms. Delaney's Joint Response to Both Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment where Ms. Delaney demonstrated the illusory nature of the purported offer. A. 735-745.

In his deposition testimony, owner Dan Cava could provide: (1) no specific dollar amount of any alleged refund offer; (2) no form of writing conveying any offer; and (3) no notes or

worksheet showing any amounts Car World was offering to Ms. Delaney. A. 562. Further, this claim of an offer to reimburse Ms. Delaney was contradicted by Mr. Tiano who testified as follows:

Q. · Okay. What do you mean by "giving her money back"?

A. We would give her her money back, it would -- as per the deal, whatever the deal was, we'd rewind it.

Q. · Okay. How was that conveyed to Ms. Delaney here?

A. · I left a message on her phone.

Q. · Okay. What did it include, "giving her money back"?

A. · · I don't -- there was never any details to it. I don't know. He just said that we would work with her and give her money back.

A. 500 (Tiano depo, p. 56). Not only could neither agent for Car World provide amounts for what it says it offered Ms. Delaney to resolve this matter prior to having to file suit but it also rejected the amount Ms. Delaney's counsel detailed in a letter to Car World's counsel as representing what Ms. Delaney's out-of-pocket costs were, summarily cutting off negotiations and leaving Ms. Delaney with no choice other than to file suit. S.A. 1390. See 736 (footnote 1).9

Car World asserts, at p. 34 of its Brief, that Ms. Delaney was not the prevailing party at trial, despite the jury's findings, despite the jury's award of monetary damages, and despite the jury's award of punitive damages. The total verdict in this case was \$18,662.09.10 This result exceeded the settlement offer made by Car World at the pretrial hearing where Car World offered to settle for \$17,863.84, an amount that may seem significant until one realizes that the settlement offer totally ignored the extensive time incurred and fees earned by Ms. Delaney's attorneys due to Car World's abusive litigation strategy, as discussed above. A. 976-977. Having run up the

⁹ Ms. Delaney also addressed this issue in her Response to the Petition for Writ of Prohibition. S.A. 1351-1352.

¹⁰ Car World's assertion, at footnote 4 of its Brief, that the selling price of the vehicle that appeared on the verdict form "must be reduced by the market value" is incorrect. Both a revocation of acceptance of a vehicle and the breach of express warranty, breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, and of the Magnuson-Moss Warrantee Act allow the return of the price the buyer paid for the vehicle, instead of some reduced amount. The jury in fact found that the facts of the case merited a buy back as opposed to diminished value. Car World cites no legal support for its assertion otherwise.

cost of litigation with its failures to engage in discovery, to communicate with opposing counsel and to obey the trial court's orders, all while knowing that Ms. Delaney's claim included an award of attorney fees, Car World's last minute settlement offer effectively asked her to waive her claim for an award of fees and costs she incurred in having to pursue this case.

Moreover, although Ms. Delaney may have settled the matter, for that amount before the lawsuit was filed, Car World chose not to engage in presuit negotiations and forced Ms. Delaney to file this case in order to resolve the matter. Car World should not be heard to complaint about the attorney fees and costs that resulted from its chosen litigation strategy.

Also, Car World argues, in its third Assignment of Error, that the award of attorney fees and costs was error under § 46A-5-104 of the WVCCPA. In support of its argument, Car World mistakenly relies on *Wolfe v. Welton*, 210 W.Va. 563, 576, 558 S.E.2d 363, 376 (2001), for the proposition that attorney fees and costs are not available in this case. In *Wolfe*, the buyer of a used vehicle returned it to the seller on several occasions for repairs, including the replacement of the transmission for which the seller was charged. 210 W.Va. at 567-68, 558 S.E.2d at 367-368. The buyer asserted in magistrate court that the seller had failed to honor the "implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for purpose." *Id.* at 566, 558 S.E.2d at 366. The magistrate jury found for the buyer and awarded the buyer \$1,000 plus attorney fees and costs. *Id.* at 568, 558 S.E.2d at 368. The seller appealed to the circuit court which, *inter alia*, overturned the award of attorney fees and costs. On appeal by the buyer, this Court reinstated the award of attorney fees and costs, holding:

W.Va. Code § 46A-5-104 (1994) provides that "in any claim brought under this chapter [46A] applying to illegal, fraudulent or unconscionable conduct... the court may award all or a portion of the costs of the litigation, including reasonable attorney fees... to the consumer." W.Va. Code § 46A-5-104 (1994). The actions of [defendant-]Appellee in denying redress to [plaintiff-]Appellant for

failing to honor the implied warranties, as found by magistrate court jury, justified the trial court in awarding attorney fees.

210 W.Va. at 576, 558 S.E.2d at 376 (emphasis added).

This Court's ruling in *Wolfe* expressly refutes Car World's argument, at pp. 37-38, that a recovery of attorney fees and costs is not allowed for claims under the WVCCPA, § 46A-6-101, *et seq.* Thus, contrary to Car World's assertion, an award of attorney fees and costs for claims brought under Chapter 46A that involve illegal, fraudulent or unconscionable conduct and/or that involve failing to honor implied warranties is available and appropriate.¹¹

Car World incorrectly asserts, at pp. 35-36, that attorney fees and costs are not available in this case because the claims that went to the jury did not include ones for illegal, fraudulent or unconscionable conduct. Based on Car World's repeated discovery misconduct, the trial court directed a verdict on Car World's liability in this case, which included claims for misrepresentation and fraud. The jury was instructed on these issues, including on both statutory misrepresentation and fraud and on common law fraud, and was asked to determine damages. A. TT 217 (unconscionability, fraud); 220 (common law fraud); 223 (damages)). The Verdict Form, at Part IV, also asked the jury to determine whether to award Ms. Delaney damages for Car World's "fraud and/or misrepresentation" – the jury awarded Ms. Delaney \$2,000. Thus, even under the

¹¹ Despite Car World's assertion, at p. 35 of its Brief, there is no indication that this Court limited the express provisions of § 46A-5-104 to instances where the seller did not "undertake repairs" or where the buyer was not charged for the repairs. Further, as discussed above, most of the repairs were paid for under the extended warranty that Ms. Delaney paid extra for when she bought the vehicle. Thus, Car World's assertions that the repairs did not cost Ms. Delaney anything are misleading. Moreover, the evidence at trial showed that the vehicle has not been fully repaired.

¹² Car World also lists "prohibited debt collection practices" which are not an issue in this case.

standard Car World asserts, its actions meet the criteria to subject it to liability for Ms. Delaney's attorney fees and costs.¹³

Car World further asserts, at p. 38, that Ms. Delaney was not entitled to attorney fees and costs on her claims for misrepresentation and punitive damages. However, the cases upon which Car World relies do not appear to address the issue it purports to raise. As discussed above, attorney fees and costs are available both in misrepresentation claims brought under the WVCCPA and in misrepresentation and fraud claims brought under the common law. Further, a claim for punitive damages is not a stand alone claim. Rather, punitive damages are awarded as additional damages in a proper case where the defendant's misconduct is egregious. Thus, it is reasonable that a prevailing plaintiff may be awarded attorney fees and costs for time expended on gathering evidence to support a punitive award. However, this Court need not decide the question regarding punitive damages in this case because attorney fees are clearly recoverable under the claims brought by Ms. Delaney. Further even if attorney fees are not recoverable for work done on punitive damages, Car World has failed to demonstrate that any of the hours Ms. Delaney's counsel spent on punitive damages were not also necessary to develop and present evidence on her warranty claims. Therefore, Car World has waived its right to challenge the hours approved by the trial court.

D. MS. DELANEY WAS ENTITLED TO CLAIM MISREPRESENTATION AS AN ELEMENT OF DAMAGES AND TO RECOVER PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

In two paragraphs, covering one-half of a page, Car World claims Ms. Delaney cannot recover damages for misrepresentation since there was no evidence of any damages flowing

¹³ Car World has not objected to either the trial court's instructions or the Verdict Form in this Appeal.

therefrom. Moreover, Car World argues punitive damages were improper as there can be no punitive damages for breach of contract.

First of all, the appellant is raising error for the first time with respect to arguing error in the awarding of \$2000 in damages for misrepresentation. This Court has held that in exercising appellate jurisdiction, it will not decide nonjurisdictional questions which were not presented to the lower court. *Mowery v. Hitt*, 155 W.Va. 103, 181 S.E.2d 334 (1971). Nor did Car World, as required under Rule 10(b)(3) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, notify this Court that plain error is being asserted with respect to this argument since it was not raised before

Secondly, as discussed above, Ms. Delaney showed significant damages with respect to the vehicle not only based on her testimony but also the testimony as to diminished value by her expert Anthony Jakicic as set forth above.

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